FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
3/11/2024 9:42 AM
No. 102868-7

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/11/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 57452-7

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION II

SkyCorp Ltd.,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

٧.

King County,

Defendant and Respondent,

# **Appellant's Petition for Review**

STEPHENS & KLINGE LLP Richard M. Stephens, WSBA # 21776 10900 NE 4<sup>th</sup> Street, Suite 2300 Bellevue, WA 98004 (425) 453-6206 Attorneys for Appellant

# **

#### Introduction

This case local government authority—or lack of authority—to control activities occurring outside its borders. King County issued a citation to SkyCorp for disposing construction and demolition (C&D) debris at a facility in Yakima County, fully licensed by the regulatory authorities in Yakima County, but not licensed by King County. The question presented in this case is whether King County may regulate where a person disposes of debris when that disposal occurs outside the borders of King County.

Division Two of the Court of Appeals—in a published, split decision—grants King County jurisdiction to prohibit one's use of lawfully operating facilities in Yakima County by prohibiting disposal there.

Regulating activities outside the jurisdiction's borders, however, is (i) inconsistent with it being a

local regulation, (ii) is unaligned with general laws, and (iii) does not promote the health, safety, welfare, or other interests of King County, all of which are required by Article XI, Section 11 of the Washington

Constitution. Additionally, the privileges and immunities clause in Article I, Section 12 of the Washington

Constitution protects the right of citizens to be free to choose among lawful options in the disposition of their property.

This Court should grant review to determine whether a county may apply its code outside its borders. As dissenting Judge Veljacic concluded, King County does not have extraterritorial jurisdiction as this Court made clear long ago in *Brown v. City of Cle Elum*, 145 Wash. 588 (1927).

# **Identity of Petitioner**

Petitioner is SkyCorp Ltd, the Plaintiff and Appellant below.

## Citation to Court of Appeals Decision

SkyCorp seeks review of a decision of Division Two filed on February 13, 2024, which is reproduced as Appendix A-1.

#### **Issues Presented for Review**

- Whether King County's extraterritorial regulation of C&D debris disposal outside its borders violates Article XI, Section 11 of the Washington Constitution because it is not a "local" regulation.
- 2. Whether King County's requirement that all C&D debris be disposed only in King County-approved facilities, conflicts with RCW 70A.205.195 which prohibits the deposit of waste only if not within locally approved facilities?
- 3. Whether King County's regulation of activities beyond its borders is unreasonable in that it does not "promote the health, safety, peace, education, or welfare" of the people of King

- County as contemplated by Article XI, Section 11 of the Washington Constitution?
- 4. Whether King County's regulation of out-of-county conduct violates the Privileges and Immunities Clause in Article I, Section 12 of the Washington Constitution?

#### **Statement of the Case**

SkyCorp is a family-owned and operated for profit corporation which removes buildings to make way for a variety of public and private development projects throughout Washington. It either moves buildings intact to other locations or demolishes them and disposes of debris and recycles appropriate materials. CP 280-82.

King County Code (KCC) 10.08.020 establishes a regulatory system of disposal of all solid waste generated, collected, or disposed of in unincorporated King County or generated or collected, or both, in any city with which King County has a solid waste inter-

local agreement. Although King County does not regulate the transportation of C&D debris, it prohibits disposal even outside the county unless disposal occurs at a King County-approved site. CP 3.

In 2020, King County issued a citation and fine to SkyCorp for violation of KCC 10.08.030. SkyCorp removed a building pursuant to a contract with the Renton School District, thereby creating C&D debris which it disposed of at a fully licensed facility in Yakima County. CP 280-81. On other occasions, SkyCorp took C&D waste to sites in Oregon that are fully licensed or permitted under Oregon law to handle such materials. CP 282.

Because of the increased cost in depositing C&D waste at the sites approved by King County, it is less financially burdensome for SkyCorp to transport and deposit construction and demolition waste in Oregon,

or in other lawfully operating locations in Washington, such as the facility in Yakima County. CP 282.

SkyCorp appealed the citation to the King County Hearing Examiner, who affirmed the citation of SkyCorp. Thereafter, SkyCorp filed suit in federal court challenging King County's code, asserting two federal claims for relief (interference with the Commerce Clause by prohibiting disposal in Oregon and violation of Due Process) and the two state-law-based claims asserted here (violation of local police powers and the privileges and immunities clause). The federal district court dismissed the federal claims and SkyCorp appealed that dismissal. As to the two, state lawbased claims, the federal district court did not address the merits but rather dismissed them without prejudice,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> *SkyCorp Ltd. v. King County,* 2021 WL 135846 (W.D. Wa. January 14, 2021).

allowing SkyCorp to refile the state law-based claims in state court. CP 120-21.

On appeal to the Ninth Circuit, the court affirmed the district court, but concluded that SkyCorp had not established standing under Article III to pursue its Commerce Clause claim because King County had yet to enforce its code when SkyCorp takes material to Oregon. *SkyCorp v. King County*, 859 Fed. Appx 780, 781 (9th Cir. 2021).

Based on the portion of the District Court's ruling allowing the refiling of the state law claims in state court, SkyCorp filed the present action realleging the same two state-law-based causes of action in Pierce County Superior Court. King County moved for summary judgment. CP 193. SkyCorp opposed that motion and filed its own cross-motion for summary judgment in response. CP 221.

The Superior Court granted King County's motion for summary judgment and denied that of SkyCorp. On appeal, a majority of Division Two affirmed the summary judgment decisions. A-1. Judge Veljacic dissented. A-28.

# Argument: Review Should be Granted for the Following Reasons

RAP 13.4(b) establishes this Court's considerations governing acceptance of review.

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) ...
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington ... is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RPA 13.4(b). Review is appropriate under subsections (1), (3) and (4), based on the following arguments:

- I. Whether King County's enforcement of regulations on out-of-county conduct is consistent with Article XI, Section 11 of the Washington Constitution involves significant questions of law and conflicts with decisions of this Court.
  - A. The majority in Division Two's approval of King County applying its code outside of King County's jurisdictional borders involves significant questions of law as to the constitutional power to enact and enforce "local" regulations "within its limits."

Because King County applied its regulatory authority against SkyCorp to an activity occurring entirely within Yakima County, King County has violated Article XI, Section 11's requirement that King County's power to make and enforce only "local" regulations "within its limits." *Id.* This Article of the Constitution is short and to the point:

Police and Sanitary Regulations.

Any county, city, town or township may make and enforce within its limits all such local police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in conflict with general laws.

Article XI, Section 11 (emphases added).

Thus, the application of an ordinance violates

Article XI, Section 11 of the Washington Constitution if it fails any of the following three criteria: (1) the ordinance shall be confined to local matters; (2) the ordinance does not conflict with a general law; or (3), the ordinance is a reasonable exercise of a county's police power. Weden v. San Juan County, 135 Wn.2d 678, 692-93 (1998) (listing the criteria), abrogated on other grounds by Yim v. City of Seattle, 194 Wn.2d 682 (2019).

Notably then, the precedent of this Court is that, if the out-of-county application of KCC 10.30.020 fails any one of these criteria, then it violates Article XI, Section 11. *Weden,* 135 Wn.2d at 692. As addressed below, prohibiting otherwise lawful disposal of waste outside of King County at a facility licensed by the governing jurisdiction where the facility is located fails each of these three criteria.

Although there is no ability for the Legislature to grant authority for a county to exceed its constitutional powers, the majority in Division Two relies on the grant of authority in RCW 36.58.040(1) for counties to establish a system of solid waste and designate disposal sites. A-7. It then plucks Division One's decision in *Rabanco Ltd. v. King County*, 125 Wn. App. 794 (2005), out of context to support its rationale that a county can regulate out-of-county conduct. A-8.

Rabanco, a waste collection service, had authority to collect in more than one county. It claimed that King County could not select disposal sites unless the County had an interlocal agreement with the other jurisdictions. Division One ruled King County did not need an interlocal agreement under the statute.

Importantly, *Rabanco* was about the regulation of the waste-hauling business—not at issue here. RCW 36.58.040 is about the regulation of solid waste

"collected in" the county. It is undisputed that SkyCorp does not "collect" solid waste but disposes of construction debris when it chooses to demolish its buildings on sites it is hired to clear.

Division Two recites part of the legislative history referred to in *Rabanco* but ignores that the legislation was about private collection service, not about where someone disposes of their own debris. Nevertheless, the majority in Division Two recognizes that *Rabanco* involved no article XI, section 11 issue. A-9.

The Division Two majority concludes that KCC 10.30.020's regulation of out-of-county disposal is still a "local" regulation because it governs waste that is "generated within the county's jurisdiction." A-11 (quoting KCC 10.30.020(A)). But as applied here, the regulation does not regulate either generation or collection. Rather, the County uses its regulation to govern activities—the disposal of waste and the

commercial transactions associated with such disposal—that occur completely outside of the County's borders.

The critical legal question in this case is whether
King County can regulate these out-of-county
transactions simply because the waste was at one time
within King County borders.<sup>2</sup> Whether it can—and
SkyCorp contends it cannot—is a significant question
regarding the appropriate scope and limits of local
government regulatory power.

#### Division Two continues:

RCW 36.58.040(1) expressly contemplates that counties will designate some disposal sites that are outside of county borders, requiring that these approvals be supported by an interlocal agreement. Thus, the legislature restricted out-of-county disposal by making an interlocal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The place of origin does not open the door for King County to regulate beyond its borders. The mere fact that a salmon is caught in King County does not allow King County to dictate how it is served in a restaurant in Tacoma.

agreement a prerequisite to designation of an out-of-county disposal site.

#### **A**-11.

No, the interlocal agreement requirement applies only when a private hauler is operating under a certificate from the Utilities and Transportation Commission (UTC), allowing operation in more than one county. RCW 36.58.040(1). SkyCorp is not a private hauler operating in more than one county, nor under a UTC certificate.

The significance of the question of law in this case is highlighted by the Division Two majority's efforts to stretch *Rabanco* to suggest counties can regulate out-of-county conduct.

- B. Division Two's decision conflicts with several decisions of this Court.
  - 1. As recognized by dissenting Judge Veljacic, the majority's decision conflicts with this Court's reasoning in *Brown v. City of Cle Elum.*

Division Two's decision plainly conflicts with this

Court's decision in *Brown v. City of Cle Elum*, 145 Wash.

588 (1927), the controlling authority on local regulation outside of jurisdictional boundaries. In *Brown*, the City of Cle Elum sought to enforce a municipal ordinance that prohibited persons from swimming, fishing, or boating in Lake Cle Elum, located outside the city limits. *Id.* at 589-90.

The city's purposes were legitimate—to protect the city's water supply. Yet, this Court emphasized that municipalities shall not regulate beyond their borders.

Brown, 145 Wash. at 589. The Court elaborated: "[t]his delegation of its police power by the state to various municipalities is strictly limited to the exercise of that

power *within the limits* of such municipalities." *Id*. (emphasis added).

The municipalities having only such legislative powers as are delegated to them, and the delegation by the Constitution containing a limitation as to the extent of that power, the Legislature is not empowered to exceed that limitation.

Id. at 590 (emphasis added).

As Judge Veljacic recognizes in the dissent, the majority's decision conflicts with *Brown v. City of Cle Elum.* A-30. King County's police power does not extend to activities occurring outside King County's borders simply because the waste was generated in King County any more than Cle Elum could prohibit swimming in a lake outside its jurisdiction even though the potential swimmers may have come from within the city limits, or the water would eventually flow to the city. Boundaries mean something and Division Two's decision directly conflicts with *Brown*.

2. Division Two's approval of King County's enforcement of a code to conduct occurring entirely outside of King County conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Weden, Petstel* and *Wilson*.

SkyCorp contends that a regulation is not local if it applies to activities not occurring within the local jurisdiction's borders. Permissible nonlocal "incidental effects" are just that—effects that may be felt out of the jurisdiction of regulations applied within the jurisdiction but the direct regulation of activities occurring wholly outside the jurisdiction raises more than a concern about "incidental effects." Division Two's decision redefines "incidental effects" to apply to direct regulation of out-ofcounty conduct and that redefinition conflicts with this Court's decisions upon which Division Two purports to apply—Weden, 135 Wn.2d at 705 and Petstel, Inc. v. King County, 77 Wn.2d 144, 159 (1969), and Wilson v. City of Mountlake Terrace, 69 Wn.2d 148 (1966). These three cases concern the regulation of actions taken inside the

jurisdictions, but the effects of which may be felt beyond the jurisdiction's borders. A-15-17. However, King County's application of its code does not merely have incidental *effects*. As applied, the code completely prohibits transactions that occur entirely outside of King County.

King County does not regulate the demolition of buildings within city borders. King County does not prohibit transporting C&D waste outside of King County's borders. CP 201 n.7. Once debris leaves, King County has no authority to regulate out-of-county activities dealing with that debris.

As recognized by Judge Veljacic in the dissent (A-31), the facts and holding in *Weden* demonstrate why Division Two's conclusion conflicts with this Court's rulings and analysis. This Court in *Weden* concluded that the applicable county's prohibition on personal watercraft (aka, jet skis) on waters "within the physical boundaries of

San Juan County is purely local," even though it would prohibit nonresidents from using jet skis when on the water within the county's jurisdiction. Weden, 135 Wn.2d at 705-06 (emphasis added).

This Court observed the obvious: "The fact that nonresidents must comply with the law does not invalidate the law or make it 'not local' for purposes of the police power." *Id.* The meaning of "local" in Article XI, Section 11 goes to actions taken inside of a municipality, not external thereto.

NCC 10.30.020 is not being challenged for requiring nonresidents to comply with County disposal regulations when they are within the County—as were the facts in Weden. Anyone wanting to dispose of C&D waste in King County must, of course, follow King County's regulations. Rather, King County has applied KCC 10.30.020 to regulate transactions that occur outside of the County's borders. Division Two has twisted the Weden decision

into an unrecognizable shape by equating the regulation of solely out-of-county conduct with incidental effects of regulation of in-county conduct.

This Court's ruling in Weden would not authorize San Juan County to prohibit personal watercraft operating on the Skagit County side of the Rosario Strait off Cypress Island simply because the noise might be heard by San Juan County residents on Blakely Island or affect wildlife there. The ruling of this Court in *Weden* makes it clear that San Juan County has no such authority even if the operators were residents of San Juan County who had trailered their personal watercraft on the ferry to Anacortes to put in there. The same is true here. King County cannot use a connection to activity in King County as a basis to regulate activity outside its borders in Yakima County.

Petstel likewise addresses a local ordinance which only regulated in-county conduct but had incidental extra-

jurisdictional effects. *Petstel*, 77 Wn.2d at 144. This Court in *Petstel* concluded that a county regulation of the fees charged by employment agencies *within the county* could have incidental effects on the general market conditions out of the county. Under the circumstances at hand, effects out of the county did not make the regulation of incounty conduct nonlocal. *Petstel*, 77 Wn.2d at 159.

Finally, Division Two's reliance on *Wilson* misapplies this Court's holding. The Court in *Wilson* concluded that a city that purchased water from a water district for city residents could authorize the addition of fluoride by the water district even though noncity residents would receive fluoridated water. *Id.* at 150. The City was not imposing a nonlocal regulation simply because the water was also sold by the water district to people residing outside of its borders. "[T]he city does not distribute water" to the challengers. *Wilson*, 69 Wn.2d at 153. Thus, the City was merely identifying the water it wanted to receive and the

fact that out-of-city customers would receive the same water did not mean the City was regulating them.

While the fluoridation decision did have *effects* outside the city because it would affect all water the district had to sell to anyone, even those outside the city, it was not a regulation of any out-of-jurisdiction conduct as is the position SkyCorp finds itself.

Accordingly, Division Two's reasoning conflicts with and distorts *Wilson, Petstel* and *Weden,* all of which recognize the distinction between a county's regulation of activities occurring *inside* the regulating jurisdiction—which may have incidental effects outside its borders—versus regulating activities occurring *outside* of the county, the latter of which does not fall under Article XI, section 11's requirement that police and sanitary powers be local and enforced within its limits.

This Court should review Division Two's erroneous conclusion because its published decision conflicts with

whether a local government may regulate conduct beyond its borders.

C. Division Two's conclusion that KCC 10.30.020, as applied here, does not conflict with general law—RCW 70A.205.195—is an issue of substantial public interest.

Whether the Legislature has authorized King County to prohibit waste disposal occurring outside of King County—but occurring consistent with the local regulations—is an issue of substantial public interest. This Court has recognized a similar substantial public interest sufficient to grant review in prior cases. See Ventenbergs v. City of Seattle, 163 Wn.2d 92 (2008). Here, the impact of King County's regulation is even greater because it applies to the disposal of one's own debris, while Ventenbergs involved regulation of a more limited class of persons—those in the waste hauling business. Id. at 99.

Article XI, Section 11 prohibits local laws that conflict with general statutes. To the extent KCC 10.30.020, as applied, prohibits the disposal of waste at non-local facilities licensed by the governing authorities where the facility is located, that prohibition conflicts with RCW 70A.205.195.

RCW 70A.205.010 sets up a comprehensive statewide program for solid waste that relies on local regulation within local governments' individual jurisdictions. The state law provides that it is illegal to deposit solid waste "[e]xcept ... at a solid waste disposal site for which there is a valid permit." RCW 70A.205.195 (emphasis added). The corollary here is that the statute does not make it illegal to deposit solid waste at a site where there is a valid permit. That is exactly what SkyCorp did at a facility in Yakima County which was fully permitted to process waste as required by RCW 70A.205.195. A-1, CP 281.

facility even though the facility is fully permitted as required by RCW 70A.205.195.

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