# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/10/2024 11:27 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 102868-7

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# SKYCORP LTD.,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

KING COUNTY, a municipal subdivision of State of Washington,

Defendant/Appellee.

# KING COUNTY'S RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LEESA MANION

King County Prosecuting Attorney Stephanie Knightlinger, WSBA #40986 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 701 5<sup>th</sup> Ave., Suite 600 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 477-1120

FOSTER GARVEY PC
P. Stephen DiJulio, WSBA #7139
Jason R. Donovan, WSBA #40994
1111 Third Avenue Ste. 3000
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 447-4400
Attorneys for Respondent King County

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

### III. ARGUMENT IN RESPONSE TO PETITION

SkyCorp's Petition for Review should be denied because the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any decision of this Court, SkyCorp makes no argument in support of review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), and this case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest.<sup>5</sup>

# A. The Court of Appeal's decision does not conflict with prior decisions of this Court.

Article XI, Section 11, of the Washington State Constitution provides that "[a]ny county, city, town or township may make and enforce within its limits all such local police, sanitary and other regulations as are not in conflict with general laws." An ordinance complies with Article XI, Section 11 so long as: (1) the subject matter of the ordinance is local; (2) the ordinance does not conflict with some general law; and (3) the ordinance is a reasonable exercise of the County's police power. *See Weden v. San Juan County*, 135 Wn.2d 678, 692-93, 958

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> SkyCorp seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3) and (4). Petition for Review at p. 8.

P.2d 273 (1998), abrogated on other grounds by Yim v. City of Seattle, 194 Wn.2d 682, 451 P.3d 694 (2019). Further, "municipal legislation will not be found to violate the police power if its effects outside the county is only incidental." Weden, 135 Wn.2d at 705. In Weden, the Court stated,

The argument that the Ordinance has some tangential effects on interests of individuals lying geographically outside of San Juan County does not mean the Ordinance is not local, nor does the existence of the incidental effects provide the appropriate "test." If the test required an ordinance to only affect local residents, no ordinance could be local because all laws affect, at least to some degree, individuals visiting a county or city.

Id. at 706. See also Petstel, Inc. v. King County, 77 Wn.2d 144, 159, 459 P.2d 937 (1969) (incidental effects outside of King County are not sufficient to render the subject matter of regulations nonlocal).

Here, KCC 10.30.020 requires that mixed and nonrecyclable C&D waste generated <u>locally</u> within King County be delivered to County-designated C&D facilities. Thus, the

Court of Appeals correctly held that the subject matter of KCC 10.30.020 is local for purposes of Article XI, Section 11.

Further, SkyCorp's inability to deliver solid waste to nonfacilities—regardless of whether those designated facilities are located within or outside the County is simply an incidental effect of the County's regulation of solid waste generated locally within King County. The Court of Appeals correctly held that those incidental effects do not render the subject matter of KCC 10.30.020 nonlocal in nature for purposes of Article XI, Section 11. See also SkyCorp Ltd. v. King County, 2021 WL 135846 at \*2 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 19, 2021) ("the extraterritorial regulatory impact of KCC Section 10.30.020 is merely incidental to its local regulatory impact."); see also Beans v. City of Massillon, 2016 WL 7492503 at \*9 n. 9 (N.D. Ohio Dec. 30, 2016) ("Moreover, later Washington state court cases made clear that [Article XI, Section 11 of the Washington State Constitution did not prohibit municipalities from entering into legislatively authorized contracts with entities which are in whole or part outside its borders to perform functions for which the municipality has authority to provide within its borders." (internal citation and quotation omitted)).

The Court of Appeals' ruling is <u>consistent</u> with prior rulings of this Court, not in conflict as SkyCorp asserts.

# 1. The Court of Appeal's' decision does <u>not</u> conflict with *Brown v. City of Cle Elum*.

As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, "SkyCorp rightly identified *Brown v. City of Cle Elum*, as a relevant case, but misapplies *Brown* to the facts here." *SkyCorp*, 543 P.3d 223 at 234 (2024).

In *Brown*, the subject matter of a 1925 ordinance was not local because it expressly sought to prohibit all citizens from swimming, fishing, and boating in Cle Elum Lake located six miles outside of that city's limits, and thus the regulated conduct took place entirely outside the city's limits. *Id*. Here, by contrast, the C&D waste subject of the C&D Flow Control Ordinance is generated entirely within King County; and King County then contracts with designated C&D facilities to dispose

of that local C&D waste. Thus, the facts in this case are readily distinguishable from *Brown*.

The premise of SkyCorp's argument is also misplaced because KCC 10.30.020 does not regulate solid waste generated outside the County's local jurisdiction. Nor does it regulate C&D facilities (*e.g.*, landfills) outside of the County's local jurisdiction. Solid waste facilities are regulated and permitted by local health departments and the Department of Ecology. *See* RCW 70A.205.120; *see also* RCW 70A.205.130.

# 2. The Court of Appeals' decision is <u>consistent</u> with *Weden*, *Petstel* and *Wilson*.

In *Weden*, San Juan County passed an ordinance prohibiting the operation of motorized personal watercraft within San Juan County. 135 Wn.2d at 686. Recognizing that "municipal legislation will not be found to violate the police power if its effect outside the county is only incidental", the Court held that the ordinance was local for purposes of Article XI, Section 11. *Id.* at 705-06 ("The argument that the Ordinance has some tangential effects on interests or individuals lying

geographically outside of San Juan County does not mean the Ordinance is not local, nor does the existence of the incidental effects provide the appropriate 'test.'").

In Petstel, King County enacted an ordinance regulating employment agencies in King County by requiring bonds, licenses and records, prohibiting charges on the promise of future work, prohibiting division of fees, and establishing a schedule of maximum fees which could be charged. Petstel, 77 Wn.2d at 146. Recognizing that incidental effects do not render an ordinance non-local in nature for purposes of Article XI, Section 11, the Court held that the ordinance was local. *Id.* at 159 ("Its effect on business outside the county is only incidental. While it is true that county regulation may result in dissimilar market conditions throughout the state, the same effect could also result from various county licensing and standards regulations. This effect is not sufficient to render these regulations nonlocal in character.").

In Wilson v. City of Mountlake Terrace, 69 Wn.2d 148,

417 P.2d 632 (1966), the City of Mountlake Terrace passed an ordinance to fluoridate the City's water which then flowed to people residing outside the City. In rejecting a challenge to the City's police power, this Court focused on the local purpose for exercising the City's police power. *Id.* at 635 ("In a very meaningful sense, the City is not exercising its police power for the purpose of fluoridating water which it will deliver to persons residing outside the city. Its purpose is to furnish fluoridated water to its own inhabitants.").

Here, the Court of Appeals' ruling is consistent with Weden and Petstel because the subject matter of KCC 10.30.020—i.e., solid waste generated locally within King County—is local in nature and incidental impacts do not change its local nature for purposes of Article XI, Section 11. As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, "[t]he fact that this regulation has the effect of prohibiting disposal at non-designated sites in more distant counties does not render it nonlocal." SkyCorp, 543 P.3d at 233. The Court of Appeal's ruling is also consistent with

Wilson because the purpose of KCC 10.30.020 is to regulate solid waste generated locally within King County. As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, "The core purpose and effect of the regulation are to ensure the efficient and proper disposal of waste that originated in King County from the moment it is generated or collected within the county." *Id*.

# B. SkyCorp's Petition for Review contains no substantive argument in support of review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

Because SkyCorp's Petition for Review contains no substantive argument supporting review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), the Court should not consider the issue. *McKee v. American Home Products, Corp.*, 113 Wn.2d 701, 705, 782 P.2d 1045 (1989) ("We will not consider issues on appeal that are not raised by an assignment of error or are not supported by argument and citation of authority."). Further, the constitutional issues presented are not "significant" as required for review under RAP 13.4(b)(3) because they have already been resolved by this Court on numerous occasions, consistent with the Court of Appeals' ruling.

# C. This case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that has not already been decided by the Washington Supreme Court.

Finally, SkyCorp argues the Court should accept review because this case concerns three alleged issues of substantial public interest. SkyCorp's arguments are without merit.

# 1. A fictitious conflict between KCC 10.30.020 and RCW 70A.205.195 does not warrant review.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that KCC 10.30.020 does not conflict with RCW 70A.205.195 for purposes of Article XI, Section 11.6

RCW 70A.205.195 does not grant any affirmative right—much less an affirmative right to disregard the authority expressly granted to counties to regulate the collection and disposal of solid waste generated within their local jurisdictions. RCW 70A.205.195 simply makes it "unlawful for any person to dump or deposit or permit the dumping or depositing of any solid"

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This is not an issue of substantial public interest. It is only of interest to those unwilling to comply with established law. Petition for Review at pp. 23-27. But KCC 10.30.020 does not conflict with RCW 70A.205.195

waste onto or under the surface of the ground or into the waters of this state." RCW 70A.205.195(1). KCC 10.30.020 requires that all "generators, handlers and collectors of mixed and nonrecyclable C&D waste generated within the county's jurisdiction [] deliver, or ensure delivery to, a designated C&D receiving facility...." Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly held that KCC 10.30.020 does not conflict with RCW 70A.205.195.

Further, an ordinance only violates Article XI, Section 11, if it "directly and irreconcilably" conflicts with a statute; and if the statute and ordinance can be harmonized, there is no conflict for purposes of Article XI, Section 11. *Lawson v. City of Pasco*, 168 Wn.2d 675, 682, 230 P.3d 1038 (2010) ("Such a conflict arises when an ordinance permits what state law forbids or forbids what state law permits. An ordinance is constitutionally invalid if it 'directly and irreconcilably conflicts with the statute.' If the two may be harmonized, however, no conflict will be found." (internal citation omitted). To "directly and irreconcilably" conflict with RCW 70A.205.195, an ordinance

would have to expressly permit what RCW 70A.205.195 expressly forbids: *i.e.*, the dumping or depositing of solid waste at sites other than permitted solid waste disposal sites. KCC 10.30.020 does not authorize the dumping or depositing of solid waste at sites other than permitted solid waste disposal sites. Thus, the Court of Appeals correctly held that KCC 10.30.020 does not conflict with RCW 70A.205.195.

# 2. An inapposite Federal Commerce Clause case from California does not warrant review.

The Court of Appeals also correctly held that KCC 10.30.020 is a reasonable exercise of the County's police power. SkyCorp argues that the Court of Appeals' conclusion is an issue of substantial public interest warranting review because of the Ninth Circuit's ruling in *Daniels Sharpsmart, Inc. v. Smith*, 889 F.3d 608 (9th Cir. 2018). Petition for Review at pp. 27-29. But *Daniels Sharpsmart* was a California case involving the constitutionality of a California regulation under the Commerce Clause of the United States Constitution; not a Washington case involving the constitutionality of a Washington regulation under

Article XI, Section 11 of the Washington State Constitution.<sup>7</sup> Further, the *Daniels Sharpsmart* decision did not address whether the California regulation was a reasonable exercise of police power. SkyCorp's reliance on inapposite legal authority for other jurisdictions does not serve as a basis for review.

# 3. A nonexistent constitutional right to freely dispose solid waste does not warrant review.

The Privileges and Immunities Clause in the Washington State Constitution applies to those rights which "may be said to come within the prohibition of the constitution, or to have been had in mind by the framers of that organic law." *Ockletree*, 179 Wn.2d at 778 (citation and quotation omitted). This Court has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The ruling in *Daniels Sharpsmart* also only concerned a preliminary injunction; the merits were never fully litigated. 889 F.3d at 609. Moreover, the California regulation in *Daniels Sharpsmart* and the C&D Flow Control Ordinance in this case are fundamentally different: whereas the California regulation directly regulated how California medical waste must be treated by out-of-state facilities, the C&D Flow Control Ordinance does not. The California regulation directly regulated conduct wholly taking place out-of-state, but the C&D Flow Control Ordinance regulates mixed and non-recyclable C&D waste generated locally within King County.

only recognized a limited number of "fundamental rights of state citizenship" under the Privileges and Immunities Clause. Id. at 776 n. 5 (citation and quotation omitted. See also, e.g., Northwestern Nat. Ins. Co. v. Fishback 130 Wash. 490, 493, 228 P. 516 (1924) ("[t]he right of every individual to engage in any lawful business" is a fundamental right of state citizenship); Schroeder v. Weighall, 179 Wn.2d 566, 573, 316 P.3d 482 (2014) ("the right to pursue common law causes of action in court" is a fundamental right of state citizenship); Madison v. State, 161 Wn.2d 85, 95, 163 P.3d 757 (2007) ("Therefore, we conclude" that the right to vote is a privilege of state citizenship, implicating the privileges and immunities clause of the Washington Constitution."). The right to freely dispose of solid waste is not one of them. Ventenbergs v. City of Seattle, 163 Wn.2d 92, 101-06, 178 P.3d 960 (2008) ("Haider points to no case, however, in which we have found a right to freely dispose of solid waste.").8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Notably, there is a fundamental distinction between disposal of property generally and disposal of solid waste specifically: the

### IV. CONCLUSION

The Superior Court properly dismissed SkyCorp's claims and the Court of Appeals properly affirmed the Superior Court's ruling. The Court of Appeals' ruling does not conflict with any ruling of this Court, SkyCorp makes no argument in support of review under RAP 13.4(b)(3), and this case does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that has not already been addressed by this Court. Accordingly, SkyCorp's Petition for Review should be denied.

\* \* \*

<u>RAP 18.17(b)</u> Certificate of Compliance with Word Limitations: The undersigned attorneys certify that this document contains 4,063 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17(c)(10).

latter inherently concerns public health, safety, and welfare. *Smith*, 55 Wash. at 221 (it is "beyond question" that the removal and disposal of solid waste promotes public health, comfort and welfare); *Cornelius v. City of Seattle*, 123 Wash. 550, 213 P. 17 (1923). Thus, while property owners may have a right to own, sell and dispose of property generally, they do <u>not</u> have a constitutionally protected right to freely dispose of solid waste specifically, as this Court expressly recognized in *Ventenbergs*, 163 Wn.2d at 101-06.